**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

**APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas**

Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2014-002221

George S. Glassmeyer.....Respondent

v.

City of Columbia.....Appellant.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

NICKLES LAW FIRM, LLC
W. Allen Nickles, III, S.C. Bar #4226
1122 Lady Street, Suite 610
Columbia, South Carolina, 29201
(803) 779-8080
wanickles@nickleslaw.com

Attorney for Appellant

RECEIVED
MAR 16 2015
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. **Whether the Circuit Court erred in finding that FOIA compelled disclosure of anonymous emails, unsolicited unverified complaints, and third-party unverified allegations of misconduct.**
2. **Whether Appellant had an obligation to investigate complaints that were not filed in accordance with the Columbia Police Department's procedures.**
3. **Whether Appellant is entitled to challenge the trial court's ruling on the ground that the withheld documents do not qualify as public complaints under FOIA.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Court of Common Pleas for the Fifth Judicial Circuit. The issues on appeal are whether the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”) compels the disclosure of anonymous emails, unsolicited unverified complaints, and third party allegations of misconduct relating to a former police chief, whether Appellant’s Police Department had an obligation to investigate complaints that were not filed in accordance with published procedures, and whether Appellant may challenge the trial court’s ruling on the ground that the requested documents refer to allegations that were not “public” and were not presented in accordance with published procedures.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On April 3, 2013, Respondent George S. Glassmeyer (“Glassmeyer”) submitted a FOIA request to Appellant City of Columbia (“City”) requesting to inspect, among other items, “copies of any and all documents including, but not limited to statements, memoranda, emails, complaint, notes, and investigative reports relating to any alleged wrongdoing by [the former] police chief” and “copies of any and all documents relating to any and all disciplinary actions imposed upon [the former] police chief.” The City responded by providing all requested materials except: (a) anonymous emails referring to alleged personal conduct; (b) unsolicited, unverified complaints referring to alleged personal conduct; and (c) third-party, unverified allegations of misconduct.

On July 10, 2013, Glassmeyer filed a non-jury complaint seeking a declaration that the City unlawfully failed to respond to his April 3, 2014 FOIA request, an injunction compelling disclosure of documents or information responsive to his FOIA

request and an award of reasonable costs and attorney fees. (Complaint ¶¶ 14-16) The City filed an answer on July 16, 2013 denying any FOIA violation and requesting attorney's fees and costs incurred in defense. On October 17, 2013, the City filed a motion for summary judgment. On October 18, 2013, Glassmeyer filed a motion for summary judgment and a motion to strike the City's prayer for attorney fees.

The motions were heard on February 10, 2014 by the Honorable Alison Renee Lee. The City provided Judge Lee the withheld information for *in camera* review. Following submission of briefs, oral argument and review of withheld materials, by order issued July 23, 2014, Judge Lee entered the following findings:

- To withhold “public records under FOIA” an agency must prove that the information falls within one of fifteen exemptions in § 30-4-40; (R. p. 4)
- The materials withheld fall within the “broad definition of public records” set forth in § 30-4-40; (R. p. 5)
- Although the material withheld may relate to “off-duty” conduct, Glassmeyer has a legitimate interest in determining “whether the Department followed its own policies and investigated complaints, which is a matter of public interest” (R. p. 6)
- Glassmeyer “only seeks information regarding complaints of ‘alleged wrongdoing’ and ‘disciplinary action.’” (R. p. 7)
- Although the reasons were not given in the complaint, Glassmeyer claimed at the hearing that the City violated its [Police Department]

manual by failing to investigate allegations set forth in various complaints against Scott. (R. p. 7)

- Glassmeyer bases this contention on the representation that “[t]he Internal Affairs Policy in the manual sets forth a requirement for the Department to conduct ‘an investigation of all citizen complaints including anonymous complaints.’” (R. p. 7)
- The Department policy “requiring an investigation militates in favor of the public’s interest in allegations and the reason why the Defendant chose not to investigate the allegations.” (R. p. 7)
- The focus of this case is not on the accusations themselves but the Department’s knowledge of the complaints and its response upon receipt. (R. p. 8)
- The case focuses not on the content of the allegations, but on what steps the Department took upon receipt of the information pursuant to its policies. (R. p. 8)

On July 29, 2014, the City filed a motion to alter or amend the above order on grounds that legitimate reasons were shown for withholding the information identified in its FOIA response and because the requested documents refer to allegations that were not presented in keeping with published procedures required for investigation of public complaints about police conduct. On August 4, 2014, Glassmeyer filed a memorandum in opposition to the motion to alter or amend and on August 5, 2014, the City filed a reply memorandum. On September 17, 2014, Judge Lee denied the motion to alter or amend. This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Glassmeyer's complaint seeks declaratory and injunctive relief under FOIA. Both claims are non-jury. In an action tried at law without a jury, appellate review extends only to the correction of errors of law. An order awarding attorney fees is examined for abuse of discretion. Burton v. York County Sheriff's Dept., 358 S.C. 339, 346, 594 S.E.2d 888, 892 (Ct. App. 2004)

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. FOIA does not compel disclosure of anonymous emails, unsolicited verified complaints, and third party allegations of misconduct relating to the former police chief.

FOIA was enacted to ensure public access to information regarding the "activities of their public officials." S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-15. To serve this purpose, FOIA is liberally construed and exemptions to disclosure of public records narrowly applied. Quality Towing, Inc. v. City of Myrtle Beach, 345 S.C. 156, 161-62, 547 S.E.2d 862, 864-65 (2001) Where, as here, information is withheld from disclosure, the propriety of each exemption must be examined on a case by case basis. City of Columbia v. ACLU of South Carolina, 323 S.C. 384, 387, 475 S.E.2d 747, 749 (1996)

The information requested by Glassmeyer contains "personal information" subject to protection established by common law principles and designated by the General Assembly in the Family and Personal Identifying Information Privacy Protection Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 30-2-30.¹ Such information is exempt from disclosure by S.C. Code

¹ "Personal information" is defined by this Act to include "information that identifies or describes an individual including, but not limited to, an individual's photograph or digitized image, social security number, date of birth, driver's identification number, name, home address, home telephone number [and] medical or disability information ..."

Ann. § 30-4-40(2) and (4). These FOIA provisions exempt from mandatory disclosure “[i]nformation of a personal nature where the public disclosure thereof would constitute unreasonable invasion of personal privacy” and “[m]atters specifically exempted from disclosure by statute or law.”

Our Supreme Court has defined the right to privacy as the right of a person to be left alone from unwarranted publicity. Holloman v. Life Inc. Co. of Virginia, 192 S.C. 454, 7 S.E.2d 169 (1940) When a privacy interest is asserted, a balancing test is used to determine whether the public’s need to know outweighs the individual’s interest in nondisclosure. Burton, *supra*, 358 S.C. at 352, 594 S.E.2d at 895 (affirming the trial court’s decision to disclose records relating to public duties and withhold information relating to private conduct). In this context, privacy interests existing at common law and designated by statute must be reconciled with the public’s interest in reasonable access to governmental activity served by FOIA. See, Seago v. Horry County, 378 S.C. 414, 663 S.E.2d 38 (2008) (harmonizing FOIA and copyright law).

Under federal law, once a legitimate privacy interest is implicated, the burden shifts to the FOIA requester to (1) “show that the public interest sought to be advanced is a significant one, an interest more specific than having the information for its own sake,” and (2) “show the information is likely to advance that interest.” Casa de Maryland, Inc. v. U.S. Department of Homeland Sec., 409 Fed. Appx. 697, 700 (4th Cir. 2011) Like the federal system, our courts have recognized both statutory and common law privacy interests.

In our State, as in the federal system, statutes supplement constitutional and common law privacy interests. See, Burton, *supra* 338 at 352, 594 at 895. National

Archives and Records Admin v. Favish, 541 U.S. 157, 170 (2003) Indeed, our constitution goes beyond the federal model in providing specific protection against “unreasonable invasions of privacy ...” S.C. Const. art. I, § 10. The right to privacy recognized by common law, statutes, and the constitution should require a FOIA requester to articulate a public interest in obtaining “personal information” about other citizens from the government.² Moreover, as observed by the West Virginia courts, FOIA is not a proper vehicle for satisfying private curiosity. Child Protection Group v. Cline, *supra*, 350 S.E.2d at 544 (W. Va. 1986).

In this instance the City withheld anonymous emails as well as unsolicited, unverified allegations referring to the former police chief’s personal conduct and third-party, unverified allegations of misconduct. In his complaint, Glassmeyer contends that FOIA required the City to release this information. In argument to the trial court, however, Glassmeyer asserted that he wanted to make certain that the City’s Police Department did not provide favorable treatment to the former police chief and that the Police Department followed its published policies in responding to allegations of police misconduct.

As a preliminary matter, the information withheld from disclosure does not fall within the requirements of law and did not deprive Glassmeyer access to information regarding the “activities of their public officials.” S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-15. Additionally, the material requested includes “personal information” exempt from

² State and federal FOIAs serve the same purpose of providing access to public information while protecting privacy interests. To date, no published opinion has been issued in this state regarding the obligation to demonstrate a public interest when privacy issues are implicated. Nevertheless, as addressed herein, it is established that FOIA only compels disclosure of information relating to public activity and public conduct. Accordingly, private “personal information” is exempt from disclosure under FOIA.

disclosure. See, S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-40(2) (Information of personal nature where the public disclosure would constitute unreasonable invasion of personal privacy)

Glassmeyer has articulated no public interest that would compel disclosure of information regarding the alleged personal conduct of the former police chief and others.³ Examination of the withheld material, provided to the trial court as received and available for review under seal, confirms that the City appropriately exercised its obligation to protect privacy interests while offering Glassmeyer access to public information regarding the police chief's public activities, compensation and benefits. See generally, City of Columbia v. ACLU of South Carolina, 323 S.C. 384, 475 S.E.2d 747 (1996) (exemptions to disclosure under FOIA must be reviewed on a case by case basis) Moreover, the trial court did not expressly determine that the content of the material submitted for review justifies publication. Responding to Glassmeyer's hearing argument, the Court instead held that the public's interest is confined to the "steps the Department took upon receipt of the information **pursuant to its policies.**" (Emphasis added) (R. p. 8)

In reviewing the withheld materials, this Court should be guided by its opinion in Burton v. York County Sheriff's Department, 358 S.C. 339, 594 S.E.2d 888 (Ct. App. 2004) In Burton, the trial judge was faced with a similar request to compel records relating to public and personal conduct of law enforcement officers. Following an *in camera* review, the judge determined that "allegations relating to off-duty sexual practices and activities of the deputies is personal and private ..." 358 S.C. at 345, 594 S.E.2d at 891. The plaintiffs in Burton did not appeal or otherwise contest this finding.

³ The material provided for *in camera* review and filed under seal makes reference to alleged conduct of individuals other than the former police chief, including a private citizen.

On review, this Court held that the manner in which law enforcement officers **prosecute their duties** to be a vital public interest that outweighs their desire to remain out of the public eye. The Court also acknowledged that the plaintiffs did not seek “information regarding **off-duty** sexual activities of the deputies involved.” 358 S.C. at 352, 594 S.E.2d at 895 (emphasis added) Instead, FOIA is available to access information only “of legitimate or public interest.” Id.

If upheld, the trial court’s order will undermine legitimate privacy interests recognized by state and federal law and expand this Court’s carefully crafted Burton decision. In addition, holding that such personal information must be disclosed upon request will expose those who wish to serve the public to unknowable mischief and perhaps manipulation by unscrupulous or misguided opponents. For all of these reasons, the order on appeal should be reversed and guidance provided on application of FOIA to allegations regarding private conduct by public employees.

II. The allegations sought by Glassmeyer were not filed in accordance with the published procedures for investigation of public complaints about police conduct.

In support of his FOIA request, Glassmeyer relied upon Section 06, Chapter 02 (Internal Affairs) of the City of Columbia Police Department Manual.⁴ This policy provides, in relevant part:

The Department requires an investigation of all citizen complaints, including anonymous complaints, against the Department or its personnel. (Paragraph 1.0)

⁴ This section is inadvertently identified as “Section 2, Chap. 6 of the Internal Affairs Policy” in the trial court order. (R. p. 7)

The Internal Affairs Unit will post a brochure in a public location in every police station or substation that outlines the procedures the public will follow in lodging a complaint against the Department or its employees. (Paragraph 3.0)

The Internal Affairs Unit shall be responsible for maintaining accurate records of all complaints against the Department or its personnel. (Paragraph 3.1)

Complaints received by mail by the Office of the Chief or Internal Affairs will be handled as any other complaint. (Paragraph 4.1)

The Internal Affairs policy places citizens on notice that reports of wrongdoing on the part of police officers may be made in person, by telephone, in writing, electronically, and anonymously. The procedures for making such reports are available to the public through various sources. For example, in addition to visiting, calling or writing the Department, citizens may use the web to access the complaint process and procedure. A complaint form is provided. The Department also offers a Citizen Complaint Process with instructions.

Individuals and organizations seeking to make allegations of impropriety involving members of the City's Police Department may do so. None of the requested materials were submitted to the Internal Affairs Unit. Instead, all established procedures for reporting and investigating allegations of misconduct were bypassed. There can be no public interest in determining why the Police Department did not investigate allegations that were never presented.

As noted above, the trial court held that the public's interest in this matter is confined to the "steps the Department took upon receipt of the information **pursuant to its policies.**" (Emphasis added) (R. p. 8) A journey must begin for one to question the steps taken. There being no report, anonymous or otherwise, **pursuant to Department**

policies, there is no legitimate basis for compelling disclosure of the information identified in the City's FOIA response and provided to the trial court for *in camera* review.⁵

The information withheld under FOIA was not submitted through published, available means for reporting police misconduct. This failure establishes that there was no effort to make a "public report" of alleged misconduct. For these reasons, reliance upon Burton and the other authorities cited in the trial court's order that address evaluation or investigation of public officers is misplaced and the City reasonably withheld the documents from public view.

III. The City is entitled to appeal the trial court's ruling on the ground that the withheld documents do not qualify as public complaints under FOIA.

In rejecting the City's motion to alter or amend, the trial court refused to consider the argument that the Police Department had no notice or obligation to investigate the allegations withheld from review. (September 17, 2013 Order p. 2, R. p. 3) The trial court's original order acknowledges, however, that Glassmeyer did not raise this argument in his pleadings, stating: "Specifically, although the reasons were not given in the Complaint, Plaintiff claimed at the hearing and in its memorandum that the City violated its Manual by failing to investigate the allegations set forth in the various complaints against Scott." (July 23, 2013 Order p. 6, R. p. 7) Thereafter, the City

⁵ The trial court noted that certain materials reviewed *in camera* appeared to derive from a family court proceeding and observed that such documents are public in nature. This Court may take judicial notice that family court proceedings are subject to seal. Neither the City nor the former police chief was a party to the referenced family court action. Furthermore, materials provided for review do not carry a family court stamp and are identified as attachments to a request for admission. Items of discovery are not normally filed. The City has provided Glassmeyer the civil action number of the proceedings in question.

properly objected to the trial court's conclusion that "failure to investigate," rather than the content of the materials requested, justifies disclosure under FOIA.

The City could not have anticipated the trial court's ruling on "failure to investigate." As acknowledged by the trial court, Glassmeyer's complaint makes no reference to any alleged obligation to investigate on the part of the City's Police Department. Instead, the complaint is limited to a request to review the content of documents including "investigative reports." (Complaint ¶ 6, R. p. 16) Accordingly, the arguments and materials presented demonstrating that no request for investigation was properly submitted under available procedures is appropriate and should be addressed.

In argument before the trial court, Glassmeyer requested disclosure of information on grounds not asserted in his pleadings and sought to bar the City's objection to his attempt to expand FOIA beyond the confines of reviewing public documents. Contrary to Glassmeyer's position, the bench and the bar will be served by this Court addressing whether FOIA applies to Glassmeyer's "failure to investigate" argument. It is respectfully submitted that upon review of this issue, the Court must conclude that Glassmeyer's complaint does not support the relief provided by the trial court and that the documents withheld fall outside the "public record" as defined in FOIA.


CONCLUSION

In withholding the information requested by Glassmeyer, the City acted only to protect the privacy of its former employee and others and to confine investigative records to public complaints presented in keeping with established procedures. The City has taken no action to prevent unknown accusers from making public their complaints about any employee. Correspondingly, FOIA is not an appropriate vehicle for making

anonymous accusations public. Review of the records provided to Glassmeyer demonstrates that the City has acted within the requirements of FOIA in balancing privacy interests while offering access to public information regarding formal complaints about police conduct. See generally, City of Columbia v. ACLU of South Carolina, supra (exemptions to disclosure under FOIA reviewed on a case by case basis); Seago v. Horry County, supra (the purpose of FOIA is to protect citizens from secret government activity) For these reasons, the decision of the trial court should be reversed and the order of attorney fees vacated.

NICKLES LAW FIRM, LLC