THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAR 10 2015

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2014-002221

George S. Glassmeyer,.....Respondent,

v.

City of Columbia,.....Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Kirby D. Shealy III, Bar No. 11556
Lyndey Ritz Zwingelberg, Bar No. 100804
Adams and Reese LLP
1501 Main Street, Fifth Floor
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 254-4190
Attorneys for Respondent

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2014-002221

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

on these cases is misplaced; the exemptions contained in the federal FOIA are more expansive than those contained in South Carolina's FOIA." *Id.* at 354 n. 4, 417 S.E.2d at 872 n.4. City's attempt to apply a Fourth Circuit and United States Supreme Court "burden shifting" analysis with regard to the personal privacy exemption is inconsistent with binding South Carolina precedent.

Even if the complaints filed with City implicated Scott's legitimate privacy interests, such interests are outweighed by the public interest where, as here, City fails to follow its own directive to investigate complaints and generate investigative reports. City admitted in its responses to Glassmeyer's FOIA request that it was in possession of various complaints of wrongdoing by Scott. (R. p. 71 at ¶¶ 4-6; pp. 74-77.) These complaints included allegations that Scott violated City's policies and directives, and possibly also violated the law of this State. (*See id.*) Despite its admission that such complaints were in its possession, City conceded that there were no corresponding internal affairs investigations or disciplinary actions involving Scott. (*Id.*)

The City of Columbia Police Department's Directives and Procedures Manual ("Manual") lays out City's policies regarding internal affairs and disciplinary procedures. (R. p. 72 at ¶ 9; pp. 79-103.) The Manual states:

All members of the Department . . . are responsible for conforming to departmental policies and procedures and are subject to discipline under the provisions of this chapter. Any member who violates the oath of office or trust, the laws of the United States, the State of South Carolina, or the City of Columbia or who violates any provisions of departmental policies and procedures . . . is subject to disciplinary action.

(*Id.*, R. p. 83 at § 3.0.) Under the Manual, all sworn officers of the City are required to comply with both the employee code of ethics and the law enforcement code of ethics, both of which address personal conduct. (*See e.g.*, R. pp. 86-97 at § 8.0 (Code of

Conduct) and §§ 8.4(20), 8.4 (26) (providing that officers are “always on duty” and provides discipline for “Conduct Unbecoming a Law Enforcement Officer”).)

The Manual sets forth in Section 2, Chap. 6 the Internal Affairs Policy for the Department. This Chapter specifically states:

The Department **requires an investigation of all citizen complaints, including anonymous complaints** against the Department or Departmental personnel. It will also address citizen inquiries concerning Departmental regulations, policies, and procedures, actions taken by Departmental personnel in the performance of their duties and other issues that involve the Department and its personnel. Adherence to this directive will help ensure the integrity of the Department, while protecting the rights and interests of private citizens and Departmental personnel.

(R. p. 72 at ¶ 9; p. 100 at § 1.0 (“Directive”) (emphasis added).) The Manual provides a list of “Types of Formal Discipline” in Section 3, Chap. 3 at § 5.0. (R. pp. 83-84.) The types of action subject to formal discipline include any improper action taken by Departmental staff in both their official and personal capacities. Section 7.0 provides: “When disciplinary action is taken or recommended by a supervisor, a ‘Report of Disciplinary Action and/or Termination form will be completed.’” (R. p. 72 at ¶ 9; pp. 79-103.)

Section 3, Chapter 3 § 1.0 (“Directive”) states that “The Columbia Police Department will exercise disciplinary action, when required, in a consistent and impartial manner.” (R. p. 72 at ¶ 9; p. 100 at § 1.0.) Subsection 3.0 further provides: “In those cases where the Department’s guidelines are violated, there must be a uniform system of discipline.” (R. p. 83 at § 3.0.) The Department’s own Manual contemplates that the purpose of uniform investigative and disciplinary action is to protect the rights and interests of private citizens. (*Id.*) This is true for not only those citizens who make complaints against City or its personnel, but also citizens who have a vested interest in

ensuring that City follows its stated policies and procedures. Section 2, Chapter Six (“Internal Affairs”) of the Manual confirms: “Adherence to this directive will help ensure the integrity of the [City] while protecting the rights and interests of private citizens and [City] personnel.” (R. p. 72 at ¶ 9; pp. 100 § 1.0.)

City characterized the complaints it received as “bile from third parties” which did “not arise to the level of a public act” and which were not required to be investigated. (R. p. 33, lines 20-23; p. 34, lines 16-21.) City’s characterization of the allegations in these complaints as the basis for its reason for failing to investigate is contradicted by its own Manual, which mandates investigation of *all* allegations, even those submitted anonymously, and even those involving personal conduct. City argued that “in its deliberations about this, [it] determined that they weren’t” going to respond to the complaints because “they weren’t going to do [the complainant’s] bidding.” (R. p. 36, lines 10-12.) “[City] felt that it was – [the complainants’] allegations were relating to private conduct, and they didn’t warrant any investigation.” (R. p. 36, lines 13-15.) City’s “deliberations” and “determinations” regarding the complaints it received were documented nowhere and are not capable of independent verification by the public.

Moreover, City’s characterization of the complaints in its possession as “anonymous and unsubstantiated” begs the question of why it did not take any action to verify the complainants’ identities and/or explore the merits of the claims through an investigation. City’s attempt to withhold the complaints by characterizing them as “anonymous and unsubstantiated,” despite its admitted failure to investigate them, and then argue that because the complaints are unsubstantiated, City is not required to produce them, is exactly the type of “activities of public officials” that FOIA was

intended to subject to public disclosure.

“The essential purpose of the FOIA is to protect the public from secret government activity.” *Bellamy v. Brown*, 305 S.C. 291, 408 S.E.2d 219, 221 (1991). Section 30-4-30(a) states: “Any person has a right to inspect or copy any public record of a public body, except as otherwise provided by Section 30-4-40, in accordance with reasonable rules concerning time and place of access.” S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-30(a). This statutory “right” ensures that governmental business is performed in an open and public manner, that citizens are informed of the activities of their public officials, and government officials cannot easily hide or avoid scrutiny where appropriate. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-15.

Pursuant to its own policies and procedures, City had an express obligation to investigate *any* complaint it received. (R. p. 72 at ¶ 9; p. 100 at § 1.0 (“Directive”).) City’s pronouncement to the lower court that it “deliberat[ed]” regarding the complaints and “determined” not to undertake any official investigation into the allegations (R. p. 36, lines 10-15) is in violation its own directives. That City ignored its own policy and conducted no formal investigation into the accuracy of the allegations provides Glassmeyer and the public with a legitimate interest in discovering why City chose to flatly ignore them without further inquiry.

The public has an interest in ensuring that the City investigates complaints of wrongdoing made by citizens. City’s own directives recognize this public interest. (R. p. 72 at ¶ 9; p. 100 at § 1.0.) Where City expressly acknowledges that it has citizen complaints in its possession, there is no excuse for its failure to take action. Whether anonymous emails referred to former police chief Scott’s alleged personal conduct;

unsolicited and unverified complaints referred to Scott's alleged personal conduct; or third-party, unverified allegations described misconduct by Scott, City's failure to investigate is indefensible. According to explicit City policy, *all* complaints must be investigated, without exception, yet in this case City admits that no investigation occurred. (R. p. 71 at ¶¶ 4-6; pp. 74-75; pp. 107 at Nos. 13 and 14.)

This Court's decision in *Burton v. York County Sheriff's Department*, 358 S.C. 339, 594 S.E.2d 888 (Ct. App. 2004), is instructive. In *Burton*, a reporter for a local paper requested information from the York County Sheriff's Department concerning a suspension of four of its officers following an internal investigation stemming from a citizen complaint. *Id.* at 344, 594 S.E.2d at 891. The Department denied portions of the plaintiff's request on the basis that the information was "personal" and disclosing it would result in an alleged "invasion of privacy." *Id.* at 345, 594 S.E.2d at 891.

On appeal this Court disagreed with the Department, determining that the plaintiff's request for the complaints and investigative reports was not subject to FOIA's personal privacy exemption and affirming the lower court's mandate that documents be produced. *Id.* at 352, 594 S.E.2d at 895. This Court weighed the officers' right to privacy against the public nature of their position and the public's interest in the manner in which the officers discharged their duties. *Id.* at 352, 594 S.E.2d at 895. Because the documents requested by the plaintiff focused on the performance of the officers' duties and allegations of misconduct, this Court determined that the public interest substantially outweighed the officers' right to privacy and held that the documents should have been disclosed. *Id.*

City's attempt to analogize *Burton's* failure to appeal or otherwise contest the

lower court's finding that "allegations relating to off-duty sexual practices and activities of the deputies [are] personal and private . . ." is not convincing. (*See* Brief of Appellant at pp. 7-8 (citing *Burton* at 345, 594 S.E.2d at 891).) Glassmeyer is not attempting to uncover Scott's "off-duty sexual practices and activities," but rather is attempting to investigate why City failed to take investigative or disciplinary action in response to numerous complaints alleging violations of City policy and/or applicable law.

The disparity between City's receipt of various complaints against Scott and its failure to investigate the allegations despite express policy directives requiring an investigation militates in favor of the public's interest in the allegations and the reason why City chose not to investigate them. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-15 (Rev. ed. 2007) ("it is vital in a democratic society that public business be performed in an open and public manner so that citizens shall be advised of the performance of public officials and of the decisions that are reached in public activity").

City's stated concern that "holding that such personal information [in anonymous or other complaints] must be disclosed upon request will only expose those who wish to serve the public to unknowable mischief" is a red herring. (*See* Appellant's Brief at p. 8.) City states as a hypothetical example that "unscrupulous or misguided opponents" could "manipulate[e]" the system by filing complaints containing meritless allegations with City anonymously and then turn around and submit a FOIA request for such complaints, opening City and its employees up to "unknowable mischief." (*Id.* at p. 8.) Such a result could only be obtained, where, as here, City fails to independently investigate allegations against its employees. Had City taken the complaints at issue, investigated them pursuant to its Directives, and generated an investigative report concluding that the allegations

were meritless, there would be no resulting problem of unsubstantiated allegations being released to the public. City's failure to investigate or produce an investigative report cannot be used by City as a shield from mandated production of public records.

The lower court should be affirmed on the basis that even if Scott's privacy interests were implicated by Glassmeyer's FOIA request, there exists a significant public interest in exposing why City failed to take any required responsive action following its receipt of complaints against its employees.

E. City's argument that the complaints sought by Glassmeyer were not filed in accordance with the published procedures for investigation is not preserved for appeal.

In its motion to alter or amend City argued for the first time that none of the requested complaints were submitted to City pursuant to its recommended procedures. (R. pp. 132-133.) City contended that because the requested complaints were not provided to City by complainants in accordance with its recommended procedures, it had no corresponding obligation to investigate the allegations. (R. p. 133 ("A journey must begin for one to question the steps taken.")) It further argued that because it had no obligation to investigate the complaints since they were not provided to it through proper channels, Glassmeyer's "public interest" argument failed. (*Id.*)

The lower court recognized that City's arguments had not been previously presented to the court and were therefore waived. (R. pp. 12-13.) It is well established that "[a] party cannot use Rule 59(e) to present to the court an issue the party could have raised prior to judgment but did not." *Hickman v. Hickman*, 301 S.C. 455, 392 S.E.2d 481 (Ct. App. 1990) (citation omitted); *Johnson v. City of Richmond*, 102 F.R.D. 623, 623 (E.D. Va. 1984) ("I do not conceive of Fed. R. Civ. P. 59(e) as serving the office of

providing a disappointed suitor with a post-judgment opportunity to argue that which could have been argued pre-judgment.”). *See also Pacific Ins. Co. v. American Nat. Fire Ins. Co.*, 148 F.3d 396, 404 (4th Cir. 1998).

The purpose behind Rule 59(e) is to allow a party to correct misapplications of law or fact or to preserve legal issues for appeal. *Elam v. S.C. Dept. of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772 (2004). “[A] great number of reported cases in South Carolina for at least four generations, and more recently the appellate court rules and rules of civil procedure, have emphasized the great importance and absolute necessity of ensuring that all issues and arguments are presented to the lower court for its consideration. Issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court.” *Id.* at 779-780 (citation omitted). Issue preservation rules are designed to give the lower court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide the appellate courts with a platform for meaningful review. *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) (quotation omitted).

Where a party does not raise an issue to the trial court prior to the lower court’s order or judgment, the party has waived its right to make that argument. *Stevens & Wilkinson of South Carolina, Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 409 S.C. 563, 762 S.E.2d 693 (2014) (citation omitted). In *Stevens & Wilkinson*, the Supreme Court held that it was error for the Court of Appeals to have considered an argument made by City that was improperly raised for the first time in a Rule 59(e), SCRCF motion. *Id.* at 567, 762 S.E.2d at 695. “The circuit court, relying on well-settled precedent, declined to reach this issue because it was improperly raised for the first time in the Rule 59(e) motion. The court of appeals should have refused to entertain that theory as well for the same

reasons.” *Id.* Similarly, here, this Court should refuse to entertain City’s argument which was not timely presented to the lower court.

Reserving arguments until a motion to alter or amend defeats the public policy of securing the just and speedy resolution of disputes and ensuring that all legal issues are presented to the lower court for its consideration. *Herron*, 395 S.C. at 470, 719 S.E.2d at 645 (issue preservation rules are designed to prevent a party from “keeping an ace card up his sleeve”). City failed to bring to the lower court’s attention its recommended procedure for receiving complaints against its employees and accordingly failed to preserve this issue for appeal.

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